Page 1 of 65

FILED 10-23-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT I

#### Case No. 2020 AP001347-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### STEVEN TYRONE BRATCHETT,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable T. Christopher Dee Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Police showed S.D., the alleged victim, a photo array that included Mr. Bratchett. He was the only person in the array with a neck tattoo, a conspicuous facial mole, and a "boxy" face. Police told S.D. to pick out the person who "best fit" the suspect. After several minutes of deliberation between up to three possible picks, she identified Mr. Bratchett as the person who had robbed her. She was "maybe" sixty or seventy percent confident in her identification.

Was S.D.'s identification of Mr. Bratchett admissible at trial?

The trial court held that the procedure was impermissibly suggestive, but that the overall identification was sufficiently reliable.

2. Mr. Bratchett's identification card, containing a photograph of him in prison garb, was discovered near S.D.'s discarded belongings.

Was admission of a photograph of the card proper under Wis. Stat. § 904.03?

The trial court allowed the photograph to be admitted into evidence and published to the jury.

3. Although S.D. testified that Mr. Bratchett had explicitly threatened to sexually assault her, her earlier statement to police contained a radically different account which did not contain those threats.

Was trial counsel ineffective for not impeaching S.D. with that prior inconsistent statement?

The trial court held that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

4. Trial counsel never cross-examined S.D about either the "best fit" instructions or the confirmation she received after choosing Mr. Bratchett's photo in the array. Did this failure deprive Mr. Bratchett of his right to the effective assistance of counsel?

The trial court held that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

5. During closing argument, the prosecutor made multiple references to a "hypothetical" confession made by Mr. Bratchett. Although counsel successfully objected to the first reference, he did not continue objecting to subsequent references, and never moved for a mistrial. Does this constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?

The trial court concluded that counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

6. Did counsel's errors cumulatively prejudice Mr. Bratchett?

Having rejected each of Mr. Bratchett's ineffectiveness claims, the trial court likewise rejected the cumulative prejudice claim.

7. Was the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. Bratchett of attempted third-degree sexual assault?

This issue is being raised for the first time on appeal. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h).

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Bratchett requests publication. The case involves several important legal issues and their resolution will assist future litigants. Due to the complex factual background and the number of issues on appeal, oral argument may assist the Court.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information filed on December 8, 2015 charged Mr. Bratchett with:

- Burglary as a party to the crime and as a habitual criminal, contrary to Wis. Stats.
  §§ 943.10(1m)(a), 939.05 and 939.62(1)(c);
- Armed robbery as a party to the crime and as a habitual criminal, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 943.32(2), 939.05, and 939.62(1)(c).

(4:1-2).

The State subsequently filed an amended information adding a third charge of attempted thirddegree sexual assault with use of a dangerous weapon as a party to the crime and as a habitual

criminal, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 940.225(3), 939.32, 939.05 and 939.62(1)(c). (15:2).

A jury trial was held in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable T. Christopher Dee presiding. (150:1). The jury returned guilty verdicts on all three counts. (47:1-3). Mr. Bratchett was then sentenced to a term of imprisonment. (52:1); (App. 101).

Mr. Bratchett filed a series of postconviction motions pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.30 seeking a new trial. (77; 83; 89; 95; 114).<sup>1</sup> Following further circuit court proceedings, the court, the Honorable T. Christopher Dee presiding, denied the motion in a written order. (134); (App. 114).

This appeal follows. (135).

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

#### **Underlying Allegations**

According to the criminal complaint, a Marquette University police officer observed two men follow female students into off-campus housing on November 15, 2015. (1:2). Shortly thereafter, S.D. reported two men forced their way into her apartment, robbed her of her personal belongings, and at one point demanded she disrobe. (1:2-3). She refused their demand, after which both men fled. (1:3). She ultimately identified Mr. Bratchett as one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The omnibus postconviction motion filed on January 14, 2020 is the governing motion for this appeal. (114).

of the robbers in a photo identification procedure. (1:2).

#### Motion to Exclude S.D.'s Identification

After being informed that Mr. Bratchett wished to fire his appointed lawyer, in part because he failed to move for exclusion of S.D.'s identification, (149:8), a hearing on the motion was held on the morning of trial and after jury selection. (151). Counsel eventually clarified he was challenging "any ID" by S.D. as well as any in-court identification. (151:22). He called S.D. as the only defense witness.<sup>2</sup> (151:4).

S.D. testified that the entire incident involving the individual she identified as Mr. Bratchett lasted 15 minutes. (151:5). The perpetrator had the hood of their sweatshirt up and she could not see his hair. (151:5). The person covered his face with his hand when talking, although there were apparently some brief moments when his face was uncovered. (151:5; 151:10). The light was on inside her apartment and the man came within a foot of her face. (151:6). She could tell he was "about the same height" as her, or roughly 5'10". (151:6). Shortly after the robbery,<sup>3</sup> S.D. gave the following description of the robber to police:

I said he was about my height. He was wearing a big sweatshirt. He kept putting his hand over his

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  While counsel apparently wanted to call the officers involved, he did not subpoen athem or arrange for their appearance at the motion hearing. (151:21).

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  S.D. did not utilize any concrete time markers in her testimony.

mouth so I couldn't completely see his face. And that's about it.

(151:7).

She could not recall any specific facial features, like the robber's eyes or nose. (151:7). While she never saw a gun, she testified that she was led to believe the robber's accomplice was armed and, using his hand inside a sweatshirt, he acted like he was placing a gun against S.D.'s head during the robbery. (151:8). She described being "in shock" while the crime occurred. (151:9).

Later that evening—around 1 A.M.—S.D. participated in a photo identification procedure. (151:8). She gave the following answer as to why she picked Mr. Bratchett's photograph:

> I was -- it was not a clear decision at all. I -- I knew he was younger. He wasn't older, but I -- I don't know. He just fit the description best, I guess, from my memory of what it looked like.

(151:9).

S.D. testified she was actually "between a few" of the photographs, having eliminated those she did not think were the robber. (151:10). "[T]here were two, maybe three, that [S.D.] asked to see back." (151:10). After "[a] couple minutes" she "chose the one picture that [S.D.] thought it was." (151:10). S.D. was "maybe" sixty or seventy percent confident in her identification. (151:10). She claimed to have "compared" the photographs and told the court it was Mr. Bratchett's "boxy" face that led her to select him as the robber. (151:14). She also confirmed that the photograph of Mr. Bratchett showed distinguishing facial characteristics, such as a mole and a neck tattoo, and that she did not include any such details in the description given to police. (151:11). She was explicit in her testimony that she did not see a neck tattoo on the suspect during the robbery. (151:14).

During cross-examination, the State elicited testimony from S.D. that while she was told the suspect may not be present in the photo array, she was also told by the officer conducting the array "to study the picture and to pick which one best fits the description of what happened that night." (151:12). A couple days after the array, the police called S.D. and told her she had picked out the correct person. (151:13). S.D. testified that she then went online and looked at pictures of Mr. Bratchett. (151:8).

Assistant District Attorney Daniel Gabler also informed the court that he directed one of the detectives to conduct a refresher identification procedure with S.D. shortly before her testimony, utilizing the same photographs as were used shortly after the crime, including a photograph of Mr. Bratchett, in order to "eliminate" the alleged taint caused by viewing Mr. Bratchett in the courtroom. (151:16). Defense counsel objected to admission of that follow-up identification and the court agreed it was not relevant to the motion. (151:18).

Counsel argued the identification procedure was "highly suggestive" because of the obvious physical dissimilarities between Mr. Bratchett and the fillers. (151:22). Counsel also argued S.D.'s testimony proved that the resulting identification was unreliable and warranted exclusion. (151:22).

Assistant District Attorney Gabler "share[d] Mr. Hailstock's concern about that six-pack" and told the court that, on its face, the identification procedure was "troublesome." (151:23). However, he claimed that because neither the neck tattoo nor the mole were a factor in S.D.'s identification (based in part, on his off-the-record conversations with the witness), the defense clearly failed to meet its burden of proving an impermissibly suggestive procedure. (151:23). The prosecutor agreed, however, it was not a "great ID." (151:24).

The court concluded the defense had met its burden of proving impermissible suggestiveness, pointing out that Mr. Bratchett's prominent neck tattoo and mole made the array problematic. (151:25); (App. 108). As to the second step, reliability, the court made a finding there was not "continued improper suggestiveness." (151:26); (App. 109). The court agreed with the State that these distinguishing features did not play a role in S.D.'s identification. (151:26); (App. 109).

## Motion to Exclude Prison Identification Card

The court also addressed counsel's motion to restrict the State from showing the jury Mr. Bratchett's identification card, which had been found in the vicinity of S.D.'s stolen property. (151:36); (App. 112). The identification card features a photograph of Mr. Bratchett in prison garb and lists his address as "Waupun," which both counsel for Mr. Bratchett and the court agreed was a reference to Waupun Correctional Institution, where Mr. Bratchett was previously housed. (151:36); (App. 112). The court ruled the photograph was admissible, so long as the State covered up the address. (151:37); (App. 113).

#### Relevant Trial Testimony

S.D.

S.D., a student at Marquette University, testified she was living at an off-campus apartment building in November of 2015. (151:68). On November 15<sup>th</sup>, a Sunday, S.D. heard a knock on her door at around 7:20 p.m. (151:70). Although she lived with two roommates, S.D. was home alone at the time. (151:69-70). Thinking it might be friends who lived on another floor, S.D. opened the door. (151:71). A black man with a gray hooded sweatshirt up over his head was standing in the doorway. (151:71-73). He had his hand over his mouth. (151:73). S.D. could tell the man was approximately her height, 5'10". (151:72). Due to the baggy sweatshirt, she could not be certain of his build. (151:72). The man asked her "if this was Allen's apartment." (151:72). She answered no and began to shut the door. (151:74). The man told her, "Don't close the door or I'm going to shoot you and people in here." (151:74).

Although she continued to try and close the door, the man overpowered S.D., pushing the door open and knocking her back. (151:75). S.D. continued to yell at him to "get out" as the man entered her apartment. (151:75). He put S.D. in a "headlock" and demanded her property. (151:76-77). After releasing S.D., the man instructed her to sit on the floor.

(151:78). At that point, a second, "younger," man, who had followed the first suspect into the apartment, stood behind S.D. (151:79). She felt something brush against her head and the first man told her that if she moved, the second man would shoot her. (151:79). The two men demanded S.D.'s wallet and debit card. (151:81-82). After acquiring the card, they also demanded the personal identification number (PIN), which S.D. gave to them. (151:85-86).

Suspecting that S.D. had not given him the real PIN, the first man began demanding S.D. better not be "lying" to him. (151:86). After first extracting promises from S.D. that she was being truthful, the first man stated he would leave to go withdraw S.D.'s money from an ATM. (151:86-88). He told S.D. the second man would stay in the apartment with her. (151:88). The younger man balked at this plan, however, telling the first man it would take too much time for him to leave and come back. (151:88).

The first man began pacing the apartment as he formulated a new plan. (151:89). He then instructed S.D. to go into her bedroom, ultimately leading her into the room by placing his hand on her back. (151:89). S.D. told the jury she "didn't know if I was going to be raped."(151:90). The man told her to sit down on her bed and S.D. complied. (151:90). He repeatedly questioned her as to whether there was another phone in the apartment which she could use to call for help (having already taken her cell phone). (151:91). The man asked S.D. to disrobe and began tugging at her shorts. (151:93-95).<sup>4</sup> She told the man "no" and held onto her shorts with both hands. (151:96). According to S.D., the man told her, "I will fuck you. You better not be lying to me." (151:96). He walked away and again told S.D. he would "come fuck" her if she called the police. (151:96-97). The man never made any attempt to unbuckle his pants or expose himself to her. (152:42).

"At some point" both men left the apartment. (152:5). "A couple minutes" later, S.D. also exited and went to her friend's apartment downstairs. (152:5-6). She was "hysterically crying" and "screaming" for help. (152:6). Someone called the police and, an unspecified amount of time later, S.D. told officers of both the Marguette and Milwaukee Police Departments what had happened. (152:7). She told the jury she was given a photo array and picked out a potential suspect. (152:9). She told the jury she was sixty to seventy percent sure that the photograph of Mr. Bratchett was the man who had first entered her apartment. (152:11). She testified she had gone through "a similar exercise" that morning and had picked out the same person, Mr. Bratchett. (152:12-13).

On cross-examination, S.D. apparently revised the estimated height of the first robber, the one she identified as Mr. Bratchett, to 5'8" or 5'9". (152:35). She was unable to state whether the robber was light or dark-skinned. (152:35). Defense counsel also used

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  S.D. was clear that he was tugging the waistband "up" and away from her skin, rather than pulling the shorts down, toward her ankles. (151:95).

his cross-examination of S.D. to bring out Mr. Bratchett's physical dissimilarity to the other individuals in the photo lineup, based on his neck tattoo and prominent facial mole. (152:36). S.D. did not identify the robber as having any such features in her statement to police. (152:37).

### Professional Witnesses

Officer Michael Gretenhardt of the Milwaukee Police Department testified that he participated in the initial investigation of the scene. (152:83). He testified there was no video evidence able to be recovered relevant to the investigation. (152:84). His canvass of the neighborhood likewise failed to produce any investigative leads. (152:85).

Officer Thomas Wichgers of the Marquette Police Department stated that on the evening of the robbery, at around 7:00 or 7:30 p.m., he was driving in the area where the robbery occurred in his squad car. (153:12). He witnessed a man in a hooded sweatshirt walking behind two college-age women in the general vicinity of S.D.'s apartment building. (153:12-13). He could not be certain of that man's race. (153:13).<sup>5</sup> He watched the two women enter the building and saw that the man appeared to hurry toward them. (153:13). He then lost track of the man, (153:13). Although he did not testify that he witnessed him enter the building, he was no longer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The officer testified that the man had a "light" colored sweat suit. (153:13). In his questioning, Assistant District Attorney Gabler changed the coloration to gray and that change went unnoticed by Officer Wichgers. (153:13).

on the street when Officer Wichgers looked for him. (153:13-14). At around the same time, he also saw a black teenager, who waved to him. (153:14). He then lost track of the black teenager, as well. (153:15). Officer Wichgers assumed that the men had "perhaps piggy backed into a building." (153:15).

At this point, Officer Thomas Wichgers called his brother, and fellow Marquette Police Officer, Michael Wichgers, (who was also on duty in the neighborhood) and asked him to check out the rear alley of S.D.'s apartment building. (153:35-37). Meanwhile, Officer Thomas Wichgers went to check the lobby door of S.D.'s building. (153:16). Before he could reach the lobby door, however, Officer Michael Wichgers alerted him he had tried to stop and question a suspicious person and that this person had run off. (153:16).

In his testimony, Officer Michael Wichgers clarified that he witnessed a seventeen or eighteenyear-old black male coming down the external rear stairs of S.D.'s apartment building. (153:38-39). The black teenager then began walking away, through the alley. (153:40). Before Officer Michael Wichgers could exit his car to speak to him, he witnessed a second man, also black, exit the apartment building. (153:40). He was wearing a white hooded sweatshirt. (153:42).<sup>6</sup> Officer Michael Wichgers testified he could not make an identification of that person. (153:51). The unidentified man saw Officer Michael Wichgers and began running in a separate direction. (153:40).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The man who robbed S.D. was wearing a gray hooded sweatshirt. (151:71-73).

Officer Michael Wichgers followed the man in his squad car, while Officer Thomas Wichgers pursued the teenager on foot. (153:43; 153:18).

Officer Thomas Wichgers ultimately apprehended the same black teenager who had waved to him before. (153:18). Officer Michael Wichgers failed to catch the second suspect. (153:43). In retracing the man's flight, he observed S.D.'s property—her wallet and ID—lying on the ground. (153:44). S.D. identified the items recovered as the property taken during the robbery. (152:26). Mr. Bratchett's identification card was also located nearby. (152:26).

Officer Thomas Wichgers believed the two individuals entered S.D.'s apartment building around 7:35 p.m. (153:28). He recalled Officer Michael Wichgers alerting him that the men had exited the building roughly five to seven minutes later. (153:29). However, Officer Michael Wichgers testified it could have been only two or three minutes after he was alerted to the situation that he witnessed the men exit the apartment building. (153:54).

Forensic Investigator Alfonso Lazo testified that he was able to recover a fingerprint from S.D.'s wallet. (153:83; 41). Richard Jacobs, a "latent fingerprint examiner" for the Milwaukee Police Department, analyzed the fingerprint. (154:22; 154:28). Mr. Jacobs first submitted the print to the Automated Fingerprinting Identification System, or AFIS. (154:34). The AFIS system contains known fingerprints from prior arrestees. (154:35). It did not produce a match.<sup>7</sup> (154:37). He was then asked to determine if the fingerprint was consistent with Mr. Bratchett. (154:37). It was his opinion the fingerprint was consistent with Mr. Bratchett's right middle finger. (154:40). Mr. Jacobs acknowledged the fingerprint was somewhat distorted and that he made the identification based on only 11, out of 300 possible, "points" of similarity. (154:42).

Detective Rudy Gudgeon testified that he conducted a custodial interrogation of Mr. Bratchett, during which time Mr. Bratchett asserted he was at the Potawatomi Casino at the time of the robbery. (154:56). He told the detective he had given his photo ID to his younger brother. (154:57).

#### Defense Case

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