RECEIVED
DEC 21 2020

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2020AP1347-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN TYRONE BRATCHETT,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE T. CHRISTOPHER DEE, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

ANNE C. MURPHY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1031600

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

#### В. The reliability of S.D.'s identification of Bratchett outweighed any impermissible suggestiveness of the photo array.

Reliability is "the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony" and "[d]ue process does not require the suppression of evidence with sufficient 'indicia of reliability." Roberson, 389 Wis. 2d 190, ¶ 3 (quoted source omitted). "Due process concerns arise only when law enforcement officers use an identification procedure that is both suggestive and unnecessary." Id. ¶ 28 (quoted source omitted). The defendant bears the "burden of demonstrating that a showup was impermissibly suggestive."  $Id. \ \P \ 4$  (quoted source omitted). While identification evidence may be excluded if it is "infected by improper police influence" and "there is 'a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification," such evidence is still admissible where "the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting  $_{
m effect}$ of $_{
m the}$ police-arranged suggestive circumstances." Id. ¶ 26 (quoted source omitted).

Here, the court determined that S.D.'s identification of Bratchett had strong and convincing indicia of reliability,

which outweighed any impermissible suggestiveness because of his neck tattoo and moles in his photo. (R. 151:25, A-App. 108.) The court held that under the "totality of the circumstances," the State had shown that S.D.'s identification of Bratchett was "reliable" because she did not rely on the tattoo and moles, but instead identified Bratchett based on his square jaw and boxy face, and because she made the identification mere "hours after the incident." (R. 151:25–26, A-App. 108–09.) As there was no "continued impermissi[ble] suggestiveness" and her identification was reliable, the court allowed S.D. to testify about her identification of Bratchett. (R. 151:26, A-App. 109.)

The court's ultimate conclusion to allow S.D.'s testimony about her photo array identification of Bratchett was correct, both because Bratchett failed to show that the photo array was impermissibly suggestive and, if it was, the State proved that S.D.'s identification had sufficient indicia of reliability.

## 1. The photo array was not impermissibly suggestive.

The circuit court's determination that the photo array was "impermissibl[y] suggestive[]" was supported by extremely limited factual findings: that Bratchett's photo was the only one depicting a mole and a neck tattoo and that police had not made an "effort" to cover them up. (R. 151:25.) It is unclear what police could have done to hide the mole and neck tattoo in his photo without drawing further attention to them. Without more support, the finding that the array was improperly suggestive is tenuous, at best.

There is no "per se rule" for when the photo array and resulting identification is impermissibly suggestive. State v. Benton, 2001 WI App 81, ¶ 9, 243 Wis. 2d 54, 625 N.W.2d 923. Even rather substantial differences in characteristics between the suspect and the other photos in the array, such

as marked differences in height and weight, "do not make a lineup impermissibly suggestive." Id. ¶ 10 (citation omitted). When conducting a photo array of suspects, police do not have to search for "identical twins" in terms of age, race, height, weight, or facial features to include in the lineup. Powell v. State, 86 Wis. 2d 51, 67, 271 N.W.2d 610 (1978). That police could have performed a less suggestive procedure does not automatically make the one they conducted suggestive. See State v. Ledger, 175 Wis. 2d 116, 131, 499 N.W.2d 198 (Ct. App. 1993).

Bratchett's photo did not impermissibly stand out from the other photos. S.D. was shown six photos of men, including Bratchett, who all had facial hair, were around the same age, and appeared to be the same race. (R. 21: A-App. 119-20.) Bratchett argues that the photo array was impermissibly suggestive because his photo was the only one with a mole and tattoo and was "problematic" because S.D. viewed photos of individuals with "varying skin tones, face shapes, and facial features," which were not "consistently similar options." (Bratchett's Br. 24–25.) But S.D. testified that she did not notice Bratchett's moles and tattoo and thus did not base her identification on those features. (R. 151:14–15; 152:65–67.) And S.D. did not tell police in her description whether the men in her apartment were "light" or "dark complected" (R. 152:35–36). Thus, her testimony does not support that she based her identification of Bratchett on his skin tone; instead she based it on his face shape, which she described as "wider" and "boxy," but she was only 60 to 70 percent sure that she had picked the right photo (R. 151:10, 14-15). S.D.'s level of confidence in her identification based on the face shape demonstrates that Bratchett's face in the photo she chose did not stand out from the other photos in such a way that it was impermissibly suggestive. Bratchett's skin tone and features, including his mole and tattoo, did not automatically make him stand out from the group in a manner that violates due process.

Bratchett argues that the photo arrav impermissibly suggestive because "the State attempted to artificially bolster S.D.'s testimony in support of the identification by conducting an identical lineup on the morning of the motion hearing," which was "highly biasing and cannot reasonably be construed as an objective mechanism designed to elicit reliable evidence." (Bratchett's Br. 27–28.) Bratchett's argument goes to the weight the jury would give to S.D.'s identification of Bratchett, not to its constitutionality or admissibility at trial. See Roberson, 389 Wis. 2d 190, ¶ 74 (witness can be cross-examined on identification and jury can weigh conflicts in and credibility of testimony, but that "does not give the circuit court the ability to preclude its admission.") Hailstock thoroughly cross-examined S.D. on her identification of Bratchett, her level of certainty, her subsequent photo identification on the morning of trial, and her in-court identification of Bratchett. (R. 152: 31–41.)

Bratchett also claims that S.D.'s identification was improper because police instructed her to pick the photo that was the "best fit," which "undermine[s] the sequential nature of the lineup procedure and explicitly invited an impermissible relative judgment." (Bratchett's Br. 27.) This claim is meritless, because Bratchett cites no case that law that this instruction is constitutionally impermissible. He fails to adequately explain why the police improperly instructed S.D. on the photo array and how that made it impermissibly suggestive by making her more likely to pick his photo.

Bratchett next claims impropriety because S.D. received confirmation from police that "she had made the 'correct' choice." (Bratchett's Br. 27.) But police told S.D. that she had picked Bratchett's photo not at the same time as the

photo array, but a "couple days" later. (R. 151:13.) Thus, the record undermines Bratchett's claim that when police informed S.D. that she "selected the right person," this "dramatically, yet artificially, increase[d] the witness' confidence in the identification." (Bratchett's Br. 27.)

Bratchett has not shown that the police presented the photos "in a manner calculated to attract special attention and to make [Bratchett] stand out from other persons" in the photo array. *Jones v. State*, 47 Wis. 2d 642, 649–50, 178 N.W.2d 42 (1970). This photo array was not impermissibly suggestive.

## 2. S.D.'s identification of Bratchett was reliable.

Even if the photo array was improperly suggestive, this Court should affirm the circuit court's ultimate conclusion that S.D.'s identification of Bratchett was sufficiently reliable to be admitted at trial. See Roberson, 389 Wis. 2d 190, ¶ 35. To find sufficient indicia of reliability, the court examined the appropriate factors: S.D.'s opportunity to see Bratchett at the time of the crime; her degree of attention and the accuracy of her description; her level of certainty of her identification; and the time between the crimes and her identification of Bratchett. See id. Through S.D.'s testimony, the State satisfied its burden to show that her identification was reliable.

First, S.D.'s testimony established that she had ample opportunity to see Bratchett during the crime. S.D. testified that Bratchett was in her apartment for approximately 15 minutes, he was directly in front of her, about a "foot" away from her face, he "was close to [her]" giving her a "clear view of his face," and she identified Bratchett based on her "memory" of his appearance. (R.151:5–6, 8–10.)

Second, S.D. testified about her degree of attention to detail and the accuracy of her description. S.D. had a "clear view" of his "boxy" facial structure, but did not notice Bratchett's tattoo or moles because he was wearing a sweatshirt with the hood up and "kept moving his hands over his face," presumably to cover his moles. (R. 151:8–10, 14–15.) Contrary to Bratchett's claim that S.D. lacked attention or accuracy because was "in shock" and under "stress" (Bratchett's Br. 30), S.D.'s attention to detail was sharpened as a victim. She was not a "casual observer, but rather the victim of one of the most personally humiliating of all crimes." *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 200 (1972.)

Third, S.D. candidly testified about her degree of certainty: she was only "sixty to seventy" percent sure that the photo of Bratchett she chose out of the six in the array was the man who entered her apartment, robbed her, and attempted to assault her. (R. 151:10–11.) Although her level of certainty was not high, the court could properly balance this against the other strong indicators of reliability.

Fourth, and importantly, S.D.'s made her identification of Bratchett in the photo array just a few hours after the crime, based on her very recent memory, which gave it a very strong indicia of reliability. (R. 151:8–10.)

The linchpin of the court's determination that S.D.'s identification was sufficiently reliable was that S.D. did not base her identification on Bratchett's tattoo or moles, which Bratchett concedes. (Bratchett's Br. 25.) S.D. did not see these distinguishing features, which the court found were improperly suggestive, because Bratchett was wearing a hood and kept his hand over his face most of the time. (R. 151:8–15.) Because S.D. did not notice Bratchett's moles or tattoo and did not base her identification on them, but instead on her recent memory mere hours after the incident of Bratchett's "boxy" facial structure (R. 151:14–15), the court found that under the "totality of the circumstances," her identification of Bratchett was reliable. (R. 151:25–26, A-App. 108–09.)

The circuit was correct. It observed S.D.'s testimony about her photo array identification of Bratchett, found her credible, and concluded that there were sufficient indicia of reliability to admit her testimony, which was subject to cross-examination. The court properly exercised its discretion to admit S.D.'s identification testimony.

# C. The probative value of Bratchett's photo ID with his address redacted outweighed any prejudice.

Bratchett challenges the circuit court's decision to admit his photo identification card, claiming that the photo of him wearing an orange shirt was indicative of prison garb and was overly prejudicial. (Bratchett's Br. 33-34.) While Bratchett "concedes" that the discovery of his ID card next to the wallet, debit card and phone stolen from S.D. was "relevant" under Wis. Stat. § 904.01, Bratchett argues that the court erroneously determined under Wis. Stat. § 904.03 that the probative value of his photo ID was outweighed by "the highly prejudicial photograph." (Bratchett's Br. 34.) In other words, Bratchett claims that the relevance of his photo ID, found next to S.D.'s stolen debit card and wallet, was substantially outweighed by its inflammatory nature or prejudice to him. When a circuit court evaluates evidence under section 904.03, its decision is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion. See Jones v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 41, 54, 233 N.W.2d 430 (1975).

As Bratchett concedes, the photo identification card is relevant and probative to show that Bratchett committed these crimes. (Bratchett's Br. 34.) On the other hand, Bratchett has offered little proof that the photo identification card was unduly prejudicial. The ID with a headshot of Bratchett, wearing a light-colored shirt underneath an orange shirt, does not overtly identify Bratchett as a prisoner. (R. 42, A-App. 121.) While Bratchett claims the jury would

necessarily associate an orange overshirt with prison-garb, he offers no proof beyond reference to Wikipedia and Google. (Bratchett's Br. 34, n.14.) His citation to a Seventh Circuit case determining that it was error to admit photos that "on their face disclose past incarceration" is inapposite. (Bratchett's Br. 34–35, citation omitted). Other than the color of his shirt, nothing indicated that it was a prison uniform. As the circuit court found, there was no "problem with the actual photo" or anything that "jumps out" about the orange shirt. (R. 151:37, A-App. 112.) This was a proper exercise of the court's discretion.

Moreover, the court ordered the State to "[c]over up the 'Waupun" address (R. 151:37, A-App. 113), mitigating any prejudice because Waupun might be associated with a prison, which was also a proper exercise of its discretion. The probative value of the jury seeing Bratchett's photo on an ID found discarded near S.D.'s apartment, on the path that the suspect matching Bratchett's description had run away from police, next to S.D.'s stolen property, far outweighed any potential prejudice based on the color of Bratchett's shirt in his photograph. The court's decision to admit the photo ID into evidence with the Waupun address redacted was sound and a proper exercise of its discretion. This Court should leave that ruling undisturbed.

D. Any error in admitting S.D.'s testimony about the photo array identification or showing Bratchett's photo ID to the jury was harmless.

Even if this Court concludes that the circuit court erroneously admitted S.D.'s identification of Bratchett or allowed the jury to see Bratchett's photo ID, Bratchett is not entitled to a new trial because any error was harmless. Neither S.D.'s photo array identification nor his photo ID were, by themselves, critical to the jury's verdict. State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985).

S.D.'s identification of Bratchett was not crucial to his conviction. The key piece of evidence identifying Bratchett as the individual who committed these crimes was his fingerprint on S.D.'s stolen wallet. (R:153:12–46; 154:22–40, 82–89.) The latent print examiner testified that "level two" and "level three details" led him to conclude that the fingerprint was a match to Bratchett's middle right finger "to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty." (R. 154:40.) This testimony was unrefuted and was crucial to confirm Bratchett's identity as the individual who committed these crimes. There is no other reasonable explanation why Bratchett's fingerprint was on S.D.'s stolen wallet, and Bratchett offers none.

Likewise, even if the jury did not see the photograph on Bratchett's ID, it still would have heard testimony that police found his ID next to S.D.'s stolen belongings. Coupled with his fingerprint on S.D.'s wallet and the police officers' visual observation of a suspect matching Bratchett's description entering and fleeing S.D.'s apartment at the time of the crimes, no reasonable jury would have found Bratchett's alibit to police that he was at the casino credible. (R. 154:54–56.) Accordingly, Bratchett would have been convicted without S.D.'s photo array identification or the jury seeing his photo ID based on all of the other evidence of his guilt.

Because there was no reasonable probability that the jury would have reached different verdicts without hearing S.D.'s identification testimony or seeing Bratchett's photo ID, any error in admitting this testimony and evidence was harmless. Bratchett is not entitled to reversal based on the court's exercise of its discretion to admit this testimony and evidence.

- II. Bratchett is not entitled to a new trial on the attempted third-degree sexual assault charge because his counsel was not ineffective when cross-examining S.D.
  - A. To show that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient, with deference to counsel's strategic choices, and that those deficiencies prejudiced the defendant.

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